IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 32753

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

On May 11, 2000, Dr. Anil Makani performed a laparoscopic cholecystectomy on Ms. Thomas. During the course of the gallbladder surgery, Dr. Makani cut Ms. Thomas's hepatic bile duct. Once he realized that he had severed her bile duct and placed her health in serious danger, Dr. Makani transferred Ms. Thomas to the University of Virginia Medical Center for a separate bile duct repair surgery. Ms. Thomas, a single mother of three children, was forced to undergo two separate surgeries at the University of Virginia over a two month period. These combined surgeries required considerable recovery and subjected Ms. Thomas to significant pain, suffering and other damages.

On February 28, 2002, Ms. Thomas filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Grant County, West Virginia, designated as Civil Action No. 02-C-12. The Complaint named Dr. Makani and South Branch Surgical Associates, Inc. as defendants, alleging that Dr. Makani violated the applicable standard of care in performing the laparoscopic cholecystectomy.¹ Ms. Thomas contended that Dr. Makani negligently cut her bile duct, necessitating the separate repair surgeries at the University of Virginia and other extensive medical follow-up. The Civil Action proceeded to trial on August 2, 2004.

The *voir dire* testimony of three prospective jurors (who were later impaneled on the jury by the circuit court) is relevant in this Appeal and demonstrates that Ms. Thomas did not receive a fair trial.

Specifically, during individual *voir dire*, prospective juror David Evans stated that he was a former patient of the defendant, Dr. Makani. Dr. Makani performed surgery on Evans

¹ Other parties initially named in the Action were voluntarily dismissed by Ms. Thomas.

following a motor vehicle accident in 1990. (Trial R. p. 64). Evans testified that he was “[v]ery satisfied” with the results of the surgery, and he characterized his treatment by Dr. Makani as a “[g]ood experience.” (Trial R. p. 65). Evans confirmed that his positive feelings toward Dr. Makani could cloud his objectivity – particularly because of his [Evans’s] unfamiliarity with medicine. (Trial R. p. 66). In fact, Evans agreed that he could possibly “lean towards” Dr. Makani in assessing his liability because “he [Dr. Makani] does good work.” (Trial R. pp. 66-67).

Based on Evans’s candid responses to *voir dire*, counsel for Ms. Thomas immediately moved to strike Evans for cause, expressing, “I don’t know how someone can have a fair trial with a juror on there that expressed that his experiences were so good with the doctor that it may cause him to lean that way.” (Trial R. p. 70). The court countered by stating, “I think that if we strike him [Evans] we would almost have to just strike anybody that Dr. Makani has ever treated.” (Trial R. p. 71). Consequently, noting counsel’s objection, the circuit court denied the motion to strike Evans, and permitted him to serve on the jury. (Trial R. p. 72).

Prospective juror Gretchen Bruce testified next. Bruce stated that she had last been a patient of Dr. Makani in July, 2004, only one month before the trial commenced. (Trial R. p. 73). Dr. Makani had removed a cyst from Bruce’s head. *Id.* Even more significantly, Dr. Makani had removed Bruce’s gallbladder only two years prior – the same type of surgery that was at issue in the underlying case. Bruce believed (but was not certain) that Dr. Makani had also performed surgery on her niece’s gallbladder. (Trial R. p. 74). Finally, Bruce expressed that if she had other medical problems, she would seek treatment from Dr. Makani because she had “good feelings” about him. (Trial R. p. 74-75). Despite the close relationship between Bruce and Dr. Makani, the court permitted Bruce to serve on the jury.

The court then considered the *voir dire* testimony of prospective juror Linda Porter, another former patient of Dr. Makani's. Porter acknowledged that Dr. Makani had diagnosed a lump in her breast. (Trial R. pp. 77, 79). Porter also enjoyed a "good experience" as a patient of Dr. Makani, though she ultimately sought treatment for the lump in Winchester, Virginia, from a surgeon with whom she was more familiar. Porter, however, expressed unwavering confidence in Dr. Makani and indicated that she was very appreciative of Dr. Makani for finding the lump. (Trial R. p. 79). Again, despite the confidence in Dr. Makani expressed by Porter, the court permitted Porter to serve on the jury.

The trial proceeded with Jurors Evans, Bruce and Porter, comprising half of the jury who would determine whether Dr. Makani was negligent in performing the gallbladder surgery on Ms. Thomas. In light of the jury's composition, it is not surprising that the jury found in favor of Dr. Makani at the close of the evidence. Thereafter, Ms. Thomas submitted a timely Motion for New Trial, contending, *inter alia*, that the circuit court abused its discretion by impaneling the biased jury. The court denied the Motion in its Order, and Ms. Thomas brings this appeal.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to strike for cause three potential jurors from the medical malpractice jury who firmly established, through extensive *voir dire* testimony, that they received successful medical treatment from the defendant, Dr. Anil Makani, and were biased in his favor, preventing Ms. Thomas from receiving a fair trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia reviews a final order disposing of an action under an abuse of discretion standard. See Syl. Pt. 2, Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Commission, 201 W.Va. 108, 492 S.E.2d 167 (1997). Pursuant to this standard, the factual findings of the circuit court are reviewed for clear error, and its rulings on questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Id. Furthermore, the determination of whether a prospective juror should be excused to avoid bias or prejudice in the jury panel is a matter within the sound discretion of the circuit court. See O'Dell v. Miller, 211 W. Va. 285, 288, 565 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2002). Thus, the West Virginia Supreme Court reviews such a determination for abuse of discretion. Id.

DISCUSSION

The circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to strike for cause Jurors David Evans, Gretchen Bruce and Linda Porter, who firmly established, through extensive *voir dire* testimony, that they received successful medical treatment from the defendant and were biased in his favor, preventing Ms. Thomas from receiving a fair trial.

Appellant Jennifer Thomas is entitled to a new trial because the circuit court abused its discretion by impaneling David Evans, Gretchen Bruce, and Linda Porter on the jury, all of whom exhibited substantial bias in favor of the defendant. West Virginia law recognizes that the parties to a lawsuit are entitled to impartial jurors. See W. Va. Code § 56-6-12 (requiring the circuit court to strike jurors who are not qualified or do not “stand indifferent” in a cause). Therefore, *voir dire* functions “to secure jurors who are not only free from improper prejudice and bias, but who are also free from the suspicion of improper prejudice or bias.” See O'Dell v. Miller, 211 W. Va. 285, 288, 565 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2002); see also § 56-6-12 (permitting parties to examine under oath a potential

juror to know whether “he is a qualified juror, or is related to either party, or has any interest in the cause, or is sensible of any bias or prejudice”). Furthermore, this Court has observed that “[a]ctual bias can be shown either by a juror’s own admission of bias or by proof of specific facts which show the juror has such prejudice or connection with the parties at trial that bias is presumed.” O’Dell, 565 S.E.2d at Syllabus Point 1. Significantly, “[o]nce a prospective juror has made a clear statement during *voir dire* reflecting or indicating the presence of a disqualifying prejudice or bias, the prospective juror is disqualified as a matter of law and cannot be rehabilitated by subsequent questioning, later retractions, or promises to be fair.” Id. at Syllabus Point 5. This Court has also recognized that there is another purpose of *voir dire*: to identify those jurors who are not only free from prejudice, “but who are also free from the suspicion of prejudice.” Rine By and Through Rine v. Irisari, 187 W.Va. 550, 420 S.E.2d 541, 547, n. 13 (1992) (quoting State v. Matney, 176 W.Va. 667, 671, 346 S.E.2d 818, 822 (1986) (internal quotations omitted)).

In the instant case, David Evans, Gretchen Bruce and Linda Porter, during their respective *voir dire* testimony, either directly exhibited bias or created a credible suspicion of bias which is not acceptable under West Virginia law. Therefore, the circuit court should have struck the potential jurors for cause.

In Rine, this court determined that the circuit court of Marshall County abused its discretion in a medical malpractice case by not striking two potential jurors for cause. Id. at 547. The jurors should have been struck because they made certain statements during *voir dire* that “brought their impartiality into doubt.” Id. The first juror, Alice Okel, was a nurse at Reynolds Memorial Hospital, which was one of the defendants in the case. Id. at 546. Ms. Okel generally “knew of” the defendant doctor, Oscar S. Irisari, M.D., and had observed two surgeries performed

by Dr. Irisari during her training as a nurse. Id. It was also revealed during *voir dire* that Ms. Okel and another prospective juror, Teri Dobbs, had conversed about Dr. Irisari's performance as a physician. Specifically, Ms. Dobbs had told Ms. Okel that Dr. Irisari was "a good doctor" and that she was "pleased with him." Id. When asked about the conversation with Ms. Dobbs and about what she knew of the defendant, Ms. Okel told the court that Dr. Irisari "seems alright to me." Id. The court excused Ms. Dobbs for cause, but it did not excuse Ms. Okel.

The second juror, William Brown, operated a grocery store across the street from Dr. Irisari's office. Mr. Brown testified that Dr. Irisari and his wife were "good neighbors and customers." Id. Mr. Brown testified that "[i]t might be hard to look [Dr. Irisari's wife] in the eye" if he awarded a verdict against her husband. Id. However, the circuit court did not excuse Mr. Brown for cause, prompting the appeal of its decision.

In assessing on appeal whether Ms. Okel and Mr. Brown should have been struck for cause, the Rine Court relied on its earlier decision in Davis v. Wang, 184 W.Va. 222, 225, 400 S.E.2d 230, 233 (1990). The Davis decision recognizes that the "true test" of whether a juror is qualified to serve on a panel is "whether without bias or prejudice he can render a verdict solely on the evidence under the instructions of the court." Id. at 233. Davis observes, moreover, that "the mere statement of a prospective juror that he or she is not biased with respect to a particular cause may or may not be sufficient for the trial court to conclude that no such bias exists." Id. Therefore, according to Davis, "[a]ny doubt the court might have regarding the impartiality of a juror must be resolved in favor of the party seeking to strike the potential juror." Id.

Examining the *voir dire* testimony at issue in Rine, the court explained that, "although Ms. Okel and Mr. Brown both represented to the circuit court that they each believed they could

reach a verdict based solely on the evidence and the instructions, certain statements made by each of them brought their impartiality into doubt.” Rine, 420 S.E.2d at 547. The court determined that, “[t]he mere statements by both of these jurors to the effect that they would not be biased were not sufficient for the circuit court to conclude that no bias existed, given their other statements about Dr. Irisari and his wife.” Id. The court further observed that Davis and its progeny required that “any doubt regarding the impartiality of Ms. Okel and Mr. Brown should have been resolved in favor of the appellants who were seeking to strike them from the jury for cause.” Id. According to the court, “cause existed to strike Ms. Okel and Mr. Brown from the jury,” and the circuit court “abused its discretion by not striking the jurors.” Id.

The instant case is analogous to Rine. Here, prospective jurors Evans, Bruce and Porter should have been struck for cause because they each made certain statements during *voir dire* that “brought their impartiality into doubt.” Rine, 420 S.E.2d at 547. To reiterate the facts, Evans disclosed that he had been a patient of Dr. Makani following a motor vehicle accident. In fact, Dr. Makani performed surgery on Evans. Evans was “very satisfied” with the results of the surgery, and he characterized his treatment by Dr. Makani as a “good experience.” (Trial R. pp. 65-66). Evans even confirmed that his positive feelings toward Dr. Makani could cloud his objectivity in light of Evans’s unfamiliarity with medicine. Indeed, Evans stated that he could possibly “lean towards” Dr. Makani in finding the facts. (Trial R. pp. 66-67). More specifically, Evans testified as follows:

Plaintiff’s Counsel: . . . I know this was a long time ago. I’m assuming you were satisfied with the way Dr. Makani treated you?

Mr. Evans: Very satisfied.

Plaintiff’s Counsel: And, satisfied with how the result came out?

Mr. Evans: Yeah.

Plaintiff's Counsel: So, based on your feelings towards Dr. Makani, would those feelings affect your decision in this case at all, if you had to decide whether or not he was negligent in treating another patient?

Mr. Evans: They're liable to cause he, I mean, he went through and explained everything to us as he was doing it.

Plaintiff's Counsel: So, you believe your experience with him might cloud your feelings as to whether or not a verdict could be returned by you against Dr. Makani?

Mr. Evans: It's liable to, especially since I don't know nothing about the medical practice.

Plaintiff's Counsel: When you said it's liable to, are you saying that because you had such a good experience in the way your were treated, it may make you lean towards Dr. Makani some?

Mr. Evans: Possibly, especially since I don't know nothing about medicine or nothing. I mean, I don't have a clue what surgery he wanted to do on her [Ms. Thomas]. I don't know nothing about it. So, from my experience, I think he does good work.

Plaintiff's Counsel: So, that even though you'd want to try to be fair in this case, your experiences might . . .

Mr. Evans: They might, yeah.

Plaintiff's Counsel: . . . not intentionally, but might . . .

Mr. Evans: Not intentionally.

Plaintiff's Counsel: . . . might cause you to lean towards him?

Mr. Evans: Uh huh.

(Trial R. p. 65-67).

Based on Evans's testimony, trial counsel for Ms. Thomas objected and moved to strike Evans for cause, stating: "I don't know how someone can have a fair trial with a juror on there that expressed that his experiences were so good with the doctor that it may cause him to lean that way." (Trial R. p. 70). The court countered by stating, "I think that if we strike him [Mr. Evans] we would almost have to just strike anybody that Dr. Makani has ever treated." (Trial R. p. 71). Ms. Thomas' counsel further argued:

I don't mind if someone has been treated by him [Dr. Makani]. I don't mind someone who likes him. And, I don't mind someone who trusts him. I'm not going to take the position in this case that he's a bad doctor. I'm taking the position that he made a mistake on this particular day. But, when you have a jury that, in any degree at all, other than I liked him, he did a nice job on me. When you ask the question would that cause you to lean towards, in favor of the doctor, or might affect that, and they say yes, that's "for cause."

(Trial R. pp. 71-72). As the facts already indicate, the circuit court denied counsel's motion to strike Evans and permitted Evans to serve on the jury. (Trial R. p. 72).

Regardless of any additional comments or statements that Appellee may raise as examples of why, in his view, Evans can sit as an impartial juror, it is clear from the record that Evans's statements call his impartiality into doubt at the very least. Under such a scenario, the Davis Court has clearly held that "[a]ny doubt the court might have regarding the impartiality of a juror must be resolved in favor of the party seeking to strike the potential juror." *Accord Davis v. Wang*, 400 S.E.2d at 233. Thus, consistent with this Court's previous ruling, the Court should determine that the circuit court abused its discretion in failing to strike Evans for cause and prevented Ms. Thomas from receiving a fair trial.

The *voir dire* testimony of Gretchen Bruce and Linda Porter likewise exhibited bias favorable to Dr. Makani, or at a minimum demonstrated that they were not free from the suspicion

of bias. *Accord Rine*, 420 S.E.2d at 547, n. 13. For instance, Bruce – who had undergone a surgical operation by Dr. Makani only one month prior to trial and who had her gallbladder removed by Dr. Makani only two years prior to trial – confirmed that she had “good feelings” about Dr. Makani. (Trial R. p. 73-75). In fact, Bruce explained that she would not hesitate to seek treatment from Dr. Makani in the future if she had other medical problems. *Id.* Similarly, Porter revealed her good feelings toward Dr. Makani in discussing how appreciative she was of Dr. Makani for discovering the lump in her breast. Significantly, Ms. Porter characterized her treatment from Dr. Makani as a “good experience.” (Trial R. p. 79). These two jurors’ positive view of their doctor brought their impartiality in doubt, and out of an abundance of caution, the circuit court should have removed them from the jury pool.

In sum, the circuit court should have struck Evans, Bruce, and Porter for cause in light of their “good feelings” toward Dr. Makani and inherent bias created by these feelings. Certainly, Evans, Bruce, and Porter would have been struck for cause if they had expressed that they had suffered a bad medical experience from Dr. Makani or expressed “bad feelings” toward him. It should work both ways. Further and most significantly, David Evans was unqualified to serve given his admission that he would “lean towards” Dr. Makani – an admission that certainly reflected the presence of a disqualifying bias that a later retraction could not cure. *Accord O’Dell*, at Syllabus Point 1. Thus, even if this Court is not sufficiently persuaded that Jurors Bruce and Porter should have been struck by the circuit court, it should be convinced that the court abused its discretion by failing to strike Evans, whose bias and partiality is evident from the record and effectively denied the Appellant, Jennifer Thomas, her constitutionally and statutorily protected right to a fair and impartial jury.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

In recent years, the medical profession and the insurance industry have engaged in a concerted effort to change the laws governing the manner in which our courts handle medical malpractice litigation in West Virginia. This effort has created the unfortunate impression in the minds of many West Virginians that all medical malpractice cases are inherently frivolous. It has, therefore, become increasingly difficult for West Virginia medical malpractice plaintiffs to pick an impartial jury and receive a fair trial. Thus, at this critical time, this Court and all inferior courts in West Virginia have a heightened obligation to fiercely protect this basic constitutional tenet of fundamental fairness and ensure that the right to a fair trial for all plaintiffs engaged in medical malpractice litigation is safeguarded.

This appeal exhibits a situation where a medical malpractice plaintiff lacked any chance of prevailing as a result of the erroneous rulings of the circuit court. Here, the jury verdict was contaminated with bias in favor of Dr. Makani, and the court should have set it aside pursuant to the post-trial motion of Ms. Thomas. Specifically, the circuit court should never have permitted jurors Evans, Bruce or Porter to assess the negligence of Dr. Makani given the partiality demonstrated by their voir dire testimony. When three out of six potential jurors in a medical malpractice trial express "good feelings" toward a defendant and otherwise exhibit bias in his favor in light of their positive past or present relationship with the defendant, significant doubt is created as to the jurors' objectivity.

Pursuant to the foregoing, Jennifer Thomas respectfully requests that this Honorable Court set aside the tainted jury verdict returned on August 4, 2004, and grant her a new trial.

Respectfully Submitted,

JENNIFER THOMAS,

By Counsel

Peter G. Markham

Guy R. Bucci, Esquire (WVSB 521)
Carrie L. Webster, Esquire (WVSB 7524)
Peter G. Markham, Esquire (WVSB 9396)
BUCCI, BAILEY & JAVINS, L.C.
213 Hale Street
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
(304) 345-0346

A. John Curry, II, Esquire (WVSB 907)
CURRY & TOLLIVER
P.O. Box 11866
Charleston, WV 25338-1866
(304) 343-7200

Counsel for Appellant, Jennifer Thomas

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 32753

JENNIFER THOMAS,

Appellant – Plaintiff Below,

v.

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