COPY

Appeal No.: 32753

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON

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

DISCUSSION

- I. **After Detailed Individual *voir dire*, The Appellant Did Not Move To Strike Jurors Bruce And Porter, And, Therefore, The Lower Court Exercised Sound Discretion By Permitting Them To Remain As Jurors. Further, All Jurors Indicated That They Could Sit As Impartial Jurors, The Court Exercised Sound Discretion, And The Lower Court’s Decision Should Be Affirmed.**

The Appellant raises questions about the responses of only three jurors during *voir dire*: David Evans, Gretchen Bruce, and Linda Porter. However, Appellant waived her right to appeal issues pertaining to Jurors Gretchen Bruce and Linda Porter because she specifically stated that she was not moving to strike them for cause. (Trial R. pgs 75-

80); Hewitt v. DHHR, 212 W.Va. 698, 575 S.E.2d 308 (2002). After learning that Jurors Bruce and Porter had prior contact with Dr. Makani, the Appellant requested individual *voir dire* outside the presence of the jury. (Trial R. pgs. 72-73, 76). Appellant's counsel questioned Juror Bruce at length regarding her ability to sit as a fair and impartial juror, and, at the conclusion of his questioning, he elected not to move the Court to strike her for cause:

Mr. Curry: Would it cause you some concern, sitting on a jury in this case, if you had to sit in a jury box, find that [Dr. Makani] was at fault, and award money damages against him, and then have to go back to him and have him treat you?

Ms. Bruce: No, it wouldn't worry me, not one bit.

Mr. Curry: It wouldn't cause you any reluctance or ...

Ms. Bruce: No reluctance, not at all. No, sir.

Mr. Curry: So you can assure us, as we're sitting here on this panel, that if you believe that he violated the standard of care, you wouldn't have any hesitancy in returning a verdict against him?

Ms. Bruce: No sir, I would not.

Mr. Curry: Thank you.

Mr. Colombo: I have nothing.

The Court: Okay. Thank you.

(Ms. Bruce returned to the courtroom.)

Mr. Curry: No motion on that.

(Trial R. pgs. 75-76, emphasis supplied). The same holds true for Juror Porter; namely, Appellant's counsel questioned her at length only to conclude that he would not move to strike her for cause, and he explicitly stated such on the record. (Trial R. pgs. 76-80). Not only did the Appellant fail to move the lower Court to strike Jurors Bruce and Porter

for cause, she also did not utilize a preemptory strike against either one of them. (Trial R. pg. 121).

“Where a party by his acts or express agreement releases appealable error, he waives all right of appeal.” *Hewitt v. DHHR*, 212 W.Va. 698, 575 S.E.2d 308 (2002), *quoting Ward v. Ward’s Heirs*, 50 W.Va. 517, 40 S.E. 472, 473 (1901); *see also* Syl. Pt. 10, *State v. Hager*, 204 W.Va. 28, 511 S.E.2d 139 (1998) (“Where objections were not shown to have been made in the trial court, and the matters concerned were not jurisdictional in character, *such objections will not be considered on appeal*” (emphasis supplied)), *citing* Syl. Pt. 1, *State Road Comm’n v. Ferguson*, 148 W.Va. 742, 137 S.E.2d 206 (1964), Syl. Pt. 3, *O’Neal v. Peake Operating Co.*, 185 W.Va. 28, 404 S.E.2d 420 (1991). Appellant requested individual *voir dire* of Jurors Porter and Bruce following which Appellant explicitly set forth her “express agreement” on the record that she did not have a motion to strike those jurors for cause based upon their sworn responses to inquiries. (Trial R. pgs. 75-80). Appellant’s counsel, like the lower Court, was obviously convinced by the totality of those jurors’ responses to individual *voir dire* that they were fair and unbiased. Therefore, the Appellant waived her right to an appeal any issue relating to those jurors sitting on the jury panel, and the decision of the lower Court should be affirmed. *Id.*

Moreover, the Appellant bore the burden of persuading the lower Court that prospective jurors were partial and bias before they could be excused for cause:

The challenging party bears the burden of persuading the trial court that the juror is partial and subject to being excused for cause. An appellate court only should interfere with a trial court’s discretionary ruling on a juror’s qualification to serve because of bias only when it is left with a clear and definite impression that a prospective juror would be unable faithfully and impartially to apply the law.

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Miller, 476 S.E.2d 535, 197 W.Va. 588 (1996); Syl. Pt. 15, State v. Wade, 490 S.E.2d 724, 200 W.Va. 637 (1997), cert. denied 118 S.Ct. 576, 522 U.S. 1003, 139 L.Ed.2d 415; see also State v. Williams, 524 S.E.2d 655, 658, 206 W.Va. 300, 303 (1999). In this case, the Appellant did not make an attempt to persuade the trial Court that Jurors Bruce and Porter were partial or subject to being excused for cause, and her counsel stated on the record that she was not moving for their removal. Hence, the Appellant did not meet her burden of persuasion or even make an attempt to do such, and the lower Court's decision should be affirmed.

The primary thrust behind the Appellant's concern over these three jurors was their past relationship with Dr. Makani, and that alone is insufficient to warrant striking them for cause under these circumstances. Syl. Pts. 1 and 2, W.Va. Dept. of Highways v. Fisher, 170 W.Va. 7, 289 S.E.2d 213 (1982); Syl. Pt. 3, Dupuy v. Allera, 193 W.Va. 557, 457 S.E.2d 494 (1995); Syl. Pt. 3, Livengood v. Kerr, 182 W.Va. 681, 391 S.E.2d 371 (1990). This Court has acknowledged that in small communities, such as Petersburg, West Virginia, it may be impossible to seat a medical malpractice jury that is comprised of persons who never had contact with the defendant physician:

It is a fact of life that in many rural jurisdictions in this State, a limited number of physicians may practice within any given community. These doctors, as a rule, treat patients throughout the community. When one of these doctors is a party or a witness in a medical malpractice action, it is unlikely the court can seat a panel of jurors with absolutely no contacts with the doctor.

Dupuy v. Allera, 193 W.Va. 557, 562, 457 S.E.2d 494, 499 (1995) (emphasis supplied).

This Court should affirm the lower Court's decision inasmuch as Dr. Makani's past

contact with jurors alone is insufficient to justify reversing the sound discretion of the lower Court.

The relevant inquiry to determine a juror's qualifications is not necessarily looking to determine whether the juror had contact in the past with the defendant physician; rather, lower courts must look to determine whether the juror is biased and whether the juror can render a fair verdict based upon the evidence and instructions of the court. Syl. Pt. 1, W.Va. Dept. of Highways v. Fisher, 170 W.Va. 7, 289 S.E.2d 213 (1982); see also Wheeler v. Murphy, 452 S.E.2d 416, 192 W.Va. 325 (1994); State v. Derr, 451 S.E.2d 731, 192 W.Va. 165 (1994). The lower Court instructed the *venire* that one of the primary purposes of *voir dire* was to examine the relationships between the jurors and the parties to determine whether it would be difficult for them to sit impartially. (Trial R. p. 6). After introducing the parties and explaining the nature of the case, the lower Court asked the entire *venire* if there were any reasons they could not be impartial, and no one indicated that this was a problem. (Trial R. p. 9). **Further, none of the *venire* members considered themselves current patients of Dr. Makani.** (Trial R. p. 11). Upon questioning from Appellant's counsel, **every member of the *venire* indicated they would not be hesitant to find against Dr. Makani if the evidence supported such a verdict.** (Trial R. pgs. 11-12). Therefore, there was every indication that the *venire* members, including Jurors Bruce, Porter and Evans, were impartial and qualified to sit in judgment of this case.

Moreover, during individual *voir dire*, Jurors Bruce, Porter and Evans all indicated that they could judge this case impartially. Specifically, Juror Bruce unequivocally stated, on at least three occasions, that she would not be reluctant in the

slightest to return a verdict against Dr. Makani. (Trial R. pgs. 75-76). Appellant's counsel spent considerable time questioning Juror Porter, and he was unable to elicit any testimony that indicated she was biased in favor of Dr. Makani. (Trial R. pgs. 76-78). In fact, Appellant's counsel discovered that although Dr. Makani had diagnosed a lump in Juror Porter's breast in 1999, she elected to have another surgeon from out of town perform her surgery. (Trial R. pgs. 77-79). If anything, this raised an inference that Juror Porter preferred other surgeons over Dr. Makani. Finally, with respect to Juror Evans, he responded to the individual *voir dire* precisely the way a fair and impartial juror should:

Mr. Colombo: ... Are you telling us that you cannot be fair to both sides and listen to the evidence, or are you...

Mr. Evans: I'm not saying that I can't be, no.

Mr. Colombo: Okay. That's what we're looking for. I mean, I recognize fourteen years ago you were in an automobile accident and Dr. Makani took care of you. But, you haven't had any first hand dealings with him since 1990?

Mr. Evans: No, not since then.

Mr. Colombo: And, so, the issue that the Judge is and the lawyers deal with here is, would you be someone who could be fair to Ms. Thomas and listen to the evidence and decide the case based on the evidence, setting aside your experience with Makani fourteen years ago?

Mr. Evans: *I would try to, to the best of my ability.*

Mr. Colombo: Alright. Could you be fair to Dr. Makani? The flip side of that; set aside your personal experience with him; listen to the evidence; decide the case the best you can?

Mr. Evans: I think so.

Mr. Colombo: Alright.

Mr. Evans: I'd try to.

Mr. Colombo: That's all we ask.

The Court: Mr. Evans, if Dr. Makani testifies to one medical opinion and let's say we have a doctor on the other side that testifies to something different, based upon your dealings with Dr. Makani when he, in 1990, would you be more likely to believe what he said than what the other doctor said?

Mr. Evans: I don't know. I shouldn't. I don't think I would, but *it would depend on how everything was explained and the processes and things going through. I mean, like if one would sit down and explain it so that I understand it better, then I might, I'd lean that way more probably. But as far as picking him over another doctor, I mean, I wouldn't.*

(Trial R. pgs. 67-69, emphasis supplied). **Juror Evans, in his very own words, stated that he would be swayed by the evidence itself and the manner in which it is presented rather than basing his opinions upon past dealings with Dr. Makani.** This is precisely what this Court has stated constitutes a fair and impartial juror. Syl. Pt. 1, W.Va. Dept. of Highways v. Fisher, supra; see also Wheeler v. Murphy, supra; State v. Derr, supra.

The lower Court concluded that based upon the totality of the responses received from Jurors Bruce, Porter and Evans, they were qualified to sit and judge this case fairly and impartially. (See Order Denying Appellant's Motion for New Trial). By carefully considering the responses of the prospective jurors, their demeanor, and the totality of the circumstances, the lower Court complied fully with W.Va. Code §56-6-12 (1931). As such, the lower Court's decision should be affirmed.

The facts and analysis of Dupuy v. Allara are extremely similar to the one *sub judice*, and it demonstrates that the lower Court correctly and appropriately qualified the jury panel. 193 W.Va. 557, 457 S.E.2d 494 (1995). Mr. Dupuy filed a medical malpractice lawsuit against his family physician, Dr. Allara, in Jefferson County, West

Virginia, and a jury returned a defense verdict. Mr. Dupuy appealed and contended that the trial court should have stricken three (3) jurors for cause because they had significant contacts with Dr. Allara and his witnesses. In rejecting the plaintiff's arguments and concluding that the trial court took "special care" during *voir dire*, this Court set forth the following analysis:

Courts have consistently recognized these circumstances by holding that, when empaneling a jury, the primary question is whether a prospective juror is free from bias or prejudice. Relevant, but of lesser importance, are the questions of whether the prospective juror knows the doctor or whether the juror or a member of his family has been a patient of the doctor. If the court, through proper voir dire, can make a determination the prospective juror is free from bias or prejudice, then the juror is not disqualified, and a strike for cause is not in order.

Id., 193 W.Va. at 562, 457 S.E.2d at 499 (emphasis supplied). The lower Court took similar "special care" when conducting *voir dire* in this case, it correctly concluded that the jurors were free from bias and prejudice, and its decision should be affirmed.

What is most striking about the Dupuy case is the colloquy that transpired between the prospective jurors and the lower court which is virtually identical to the discussions that took place in this case. For instance, the following transpired in the Dupuy case during *voir dire*:

First, the appellants contend that Angela Barry should have been disqualified for cause because she was once a patient of the appellee, Dr. Allara, and "... the likelihood of bias or prejudice is inherent due to the nature of the juror's ongoing relationship with [Dr. Allara]...." During in-chambers *voir dire* of Angela Barry, the judge asked her about Dr. Allara: "Is he--do you consider him to be your family doctor?" She responded, "No." **When asked whether she believed she had a bias in Dr. Allara's favor because of her prior experience with him, Ms. Barry said, "I don't know. It depends on what the situation is."** The judge then explained the need to pick jurors who "will make a decision based upon the evidence and the law, and not on any extraneous factors ... **would your previous contact with him affect your ability to render a fair and impartial verdict based on the evidence?"** Ms. Barry answered, "No,

not really. ...

Counsel subsequently asked Ms. Barry to clarify what she meant when, in response to questions about whether anything associated with her treatment by Dr. Allara might bias her in this case, she said, "**It depends....**" Ms. Barry replied, "**I said depends--I said depends when you said bias because I didn't know exactly what he was talking about.**" Ms. Barry was then asked if she was biased against Dr. Allara, and she said, "**No, I don't have anything against him.**"

The trial judge refused to strike Ms. Barry, finding that "[s]he said basically that she can render a fair verdict based upon the law and the evidence ... You know, her willingness to go back to him [Dr. Allara] is based upon her apparently not having any prejudice against him. Not so much on her endorsement."

Id., 193 W.Va. at 562-63, 457 S.E.2d at 499-500 (emphasis supplied).

In Dupuy, this Court concluded that the trial judge made the correct decision when he permitted Ms. Barry to sit in judgment of that case because **the in-chambers voir dire "did not elicit sufficient doubt about [her] ability to be impartial as to warrant striking [her] for cause."** Id., 193 W.Va. at 564, 457 S.E.2d at 501 (emphasis supplied). In this case, the jurors of whom the Appellant complains had similar responses to individual *voir dire* questions, and they were all able to conclude that they could sit fairly and in an unbiased fashion in this case. Moreover, the exchange between Juror Evans and counsel during individual *voir dire* in the instant case is almost identical to the discussion with Ms. Barry in the Dupuy case. Id., (Trial R. pgs. 67-69). Hence, an identical result is warranted, and this Court should affirm the decision of the lower Court.

Another juror in the Dupuy case had similar responses to that of Jurors Bruce and Porter in this case. Specifically, in Dupuy, Lewis Lloyd was a juror whose wife had an on-going physician-patient relationship with one of Dr. Allara's expert witnesses, namely

Dr. Miller, for treatment of her bronchitis. The following transpired during the *voir dire* with respect to Mr. Lloyd:

It is true Mr. Lloyd said he was satisfied with the care Dr. Miller had given his wife, but when he was then asked "if Dr. Miller expresses an opinion in this case, would that in itself--the relationship you and your wife have with him, give you more of a feeling that you know to give more credence to what he says?", Mr. Lloyd stated unequivocally, "Absolutely not."

After an in-chambers individual *voir dire* of Mr. Lloyd, counsel argued he should be struck because "... it is quite obvious now that the whole panel here is going to be Dr. Allara's patients or Dr. Miller's patients. And I think there is a point when it gets to the cumulative effect that we've got a biased jury."

The trial court rejected the appellants' cumulative effect argument, correctly pointing out that "we have to look at these things from the standpoint of each individual juror and how they respond to *voir dire*." The trial court refused to strike Mr. Lloyd for cause, concluding that "if this gentleman is true to his word, he sounds like he is going to be a dynamite juror for both sides." However, the appellants exercised a preemptory strike and removed Mr. Lloyd from the jury.

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